Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Maturitas



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/maturitas



Green tea and green tea catechin extracts: An overview of the clinical evidence

Rachel Johnson, Susan Bryant, Alyson L. Huntley*

Centre for Academic Primary Care, NIHR School for Primary Care Research, School of Social and Community Medicine, University of Bristol, Canynge Hall, 39 Whatley Road, Bristol BS8 2PS, United Kingdom

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 August 2012 Accepted 13 August 2012

Keywords: Green tea Tea catechins Cancer Cardiovascular disease Weight loss Review

ABSTRACT

Background: Tea leaves contain varying amounts of polyphenols of which the majority are catechins. There has been a sizable amount of research on the potential effect of green tea catechins for cancer risk, cardiovascular disease risk and weight loss; all conditions that are relevant to mid-life health. The aim was to produce an overview of the evidence for green tea for these three important health conditions.

Methods: The databases Medline (& Medline in process) and Embase, were searched for systematic reviews and meta-analyses using customised search strategies performed up until April 2012. Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews criteria were used to assess the quality of the included reviews. Relevant data were extracted into predefined tables. The results are described and discussed narratively. *Results:* We included eight systematic reviews and meta-analyses covering the topics of cancer risk (n = 2), cardiovascular risk (n = 4) and weight loss (n = 2).

Conclusions: The evidence for green tea and cancer risk is inadequate and inconclusive. However there is some positive evidence for risk reduction of breast, prostate, ovarian and endometrial cancers with green tea. RCTs of green tea and cardiovascular risk factors suggest that green tea may reduce low-density lipoproteins and total cholesterol, although studies are of short duration. There is no robust evidence to support a reduction in coronary artery disease risk in green tea drinkers. There are a considerable number of RCTs to suggest that green tea does reduce body weight in the short term, but this not likely to be of clinical relevance.

© 2012 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	uction	281
2.	Metho	bds	281
	2.1.	Inclusion criteria	281
	2.2.	Searches	
	2.3.	Quality assessment	281
		Data extraction	
3.		S	
4.		Γ	
		Oral/pharyngeal cancer	
	4.2.	Esophageal cancer	
	4.3.	Gastric cancer	
	4.4.	Pancreatic cancer	
	4.5.	Colorectal cancer	
	4.6.	Breast cancer	
	4.7.	Lung cancer	
	4.8.	Prostate cancer	
	4.9.	Bladder cancer	
	4.9. 4.10.	Liver cancer	
		Ovarian cancer	
	4.11.		200



^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 0117 3314551; fax: +44 0117 9287236. *E-mail address:* alyson.huntley@bristol.ac.uk (A.L. Huntley).

^{0378-5122/\$ –} see front matter @ 2012 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.08.008

5.	Cardiovascular					
	5.1. Risk factors					
	5.2. Coronary artery disease (CAD)	. 285				
6.	Weight loss					
7.	Summary and conclusions					
	Contributors					
	Competing interest					
	Funding					
	Provenance and peer review	286				
	Appendix A. Supplementary data	286				
	References	286				

1. Introduction

Green tea is produced from the leaves of *Camilla sinensis*, which is native to Eastern Asia. Traditional Chinese medicine has recommended drinking green tea for the prevention of disease, and in Asia this is still regarded as a healthy practice [1].

Tea leaves contain polyphenols of which the majority are catechins with smaller quantities of caffeine, theanine, theobromine, theophylline and phenolic acids. The major catechin in green tea is (–)-epigallocatechin gallate, with lesser amounts of catechin, epicatechin, gallocatechin, gallocatechin gallate and epicatechin gallate [1]. Many of the health benefits of green tea are attributed to the antioxidant capacity of these compounds.

Green tea is prepared by drying and steaming whereas black tea is fermented, converting its catechin content into the theaflavins. The addition of milk to tea does not affect the bioavailability of catechins but may alter the antioxidant potential depending on the fat content [1].

Pharmacokinetic studies suggest a daily dosage of 800 mg/day of epigallocatechin gallate capsules for up to four weeks to be safe and well tolerated. A daily intake of 3–5 cups per day (720–1200 ml) of green tea will provide at least 250 mg/day of catechins.

There are no reports of clinical toxicity from daily green tea consumption. However, regulatory agencies in France and Spain suspended market authorization of a weight-loss product containing green tea because of hepatotoxicity concerns [2]. As a result the US Pharmacopeia conducted a systematic review of 216 green tea case reports including 34 reports of liver damage. Clinical and animal studies indicated that green tea concentrated extracts on an empty stomach is more likely to lead to adverse effects than green tea consumption after eating [2]. This review concluded that when a dietary supplement containing green tea extracts is formulated appropriately it is unlikely that there will be significant safety issues.

Evidence from case reports suggests that vitamin K content in green tea may antagonise the anticoagulant effect of warfarin [3]. Green tea reduces the bioavailability of folic acid and therefore is not recommended for pregnant women or with megaloblastic anaemia [4]. There is some evidence that green tea reduces iron absorption [5].

2. Methods

2.1. Inclusion criteria

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses describing studies of green tea beverage or green tea catechin extracts (herein described as green tea) that focused on clinical outcomes as opposed to preclinical studies were included.

2.2. Searches

Relevant publications were sought in Medline, Medline in process and Embase databases using customised search strategies performed up to April 2012 (web appendix one). The Cochrane Library was searched by keywords. English language papers only were included.

2.3. Quality assessment

The Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) tool was used to assess quality of the included systematic reviews and meta-analyses [6]. AMSTAR is a validated measure of 11 questions which has been designed based on previous tools, empirical evidence and expert consensus.

2.4. Data extraction

We extracted the relevant data from the systematic reviews and meta-analyses into predefined tables.

3. Results

124 references were found. 80 were excluded due to obvious irrelevance leaving 44 full papers to read. Eight papers were included on the topics of cancer risk (2), cardiovascular risk (4) and weight loss (2).

4. Cancer

Data extraction was performed on the two most recent high quality systematic reviews which covered all cancers [7,8] (Table 1). The following data combines studies from both reviews, and four more recent cancer-specific reviews were used to update evidence as necessary [9–12].

Boehm et al. included 50 cohort and case–control studies on all cancer types focussing on risk of cancer and mortality [7]. Sturgeon et al. focused on risk and recurrence of all cancer types with green tea consumption, and included 23 studies of which the majority were case–control studies [8]. Most of these studies involve green tea as a beverage.

Both reviews can be described as high quality as assessed by the AMSTAR measurement tool. (web appendix 2) The vast majority of studies were conducted in Asia. Neither review performed meta-analysis of the data presented citing high clinical and statistical heterogeneity as the reasons, and thus although they discussed publication bias they did not examine it.

Author Date Country	Study selection and design	Population	Outcomes of interest	Intervention/control	Included studies	Results, comment and/or analysis
Cancer Boehm [7] 2009	Prospective, controlled intervention studies and observational studies Systematic review	Healthy adults and adults with various forms of cancer	No. of people developing cancer No. of people dying from cancers	The consumption of green tea in any format as a mono-preparation Any control treatment	27 case control studies 23 cohort studies 1 RCTof which n = 27 digestive tract n = 5 breast n = 5 prostate n = 3 lung cancer n = 2 ovarian n = 2 urinary bladder n = 1 oral n = 3 others	Development of cancer Lack of consistency in the results of the observational studies generally This was especially the case for cancer of the digestive tract Liver, ovarian and oral cancer-limited evidence Esophageal, gastric, colon, rectum, and pancreatic cancer-conflicting evidence Prostate and breast cancer-conflicting evidence However: Higher methodological quality observational studies and one RCT of prostate cancer suggested a decreased risk in men consuming higher amounts of green tea All nested case-control studies of breast cancer withi prospective cohorts suggested no influence of green tea consumption on the risk of breast cancer Lung cancer & urinary bladder cancer-limited to moderate evidence especially in men or that it could even increase the risk in the latter Dying from cancer Gastric cancer-moderate to strong evidence Lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, and colorectal cancer-limited to moderate
Sturgeon [8] 2009	Case control, cohort studies, clinical trials and RCTs Systematic review	General population	Risk of developing cancer Slowing progression & preventing recurrence	The consumption of green tea	<pre>n = 23 were included and grouped according to cancer type n = 6 gastric n = 2 esophageal n = 3 colon, rectal and pancreatic n = 1 oral and pharyngeal n = 4 breast n = 4 prostate n = 1 lung n = 2 all cancers</pre>	Nine studies associated green tea with decreased cancer Nine studies showed no relationship Three studies involving esophageal and GI cancers presented mixed results 2/3 associated green tea with a decreased risk on women and not men The third found an increased risk in men but not women Dose response was reported in nine studies suggestin dose, frequency, concentration & duration of intake important No evidence to date to suggest green tea influences precancerous lesions or abnormalities
Cardiovascular Hooper [26] 2008 USA	Published RCTs Systematic review and meta-analysis	Adults non-pregnant, not critically ill, although all stages of CVD included	Primary outcomes: LDL, HDL, SBP, DBP and endothelial function	Intervention: Increased intake of flavanoids or foods rich in flavanoids, including green tea Control: Any control which allowed observed effect to be reasonably ascribed to flavonoids	170 studies of which 12 were green tea 7 studies used in meta-analysis. These 7 studies included 258 intervention/252 control patients By outcome: Endothelial function – no published data SBP – 2 studies, 92 patients DBP – 1 study, 26 patients LDL – 4 studies, 378 patients HDL – 3 studies, 358 patients Study duration ranged from hours to 52 weeks	Endothelial function- no published data Blood pressure – effects of chronic intake SBP: increase of 1.8 mmHg (-1.86, 5.46) DBP: increase of 0.9 (-1.22, 3.02) HDL: decrease of 0.01 (-0.09, 0.07)

Table 1

282

Table 1 (Continued)

Author Date Country	Study selection and design	Population	Outcomes of interest	Intervention/control	Included studies	Results, comment and/or analysis
Wang [27] 2011 China	Case control or cohort studies Systematic review and meta-analysis	Not specified in inclusion criteria	CAD incidence or mortality MI, CAD, non-stroke cardiovascular disease, other coronary events	Intervention: Tea consumption (black and green) Control: Not specified in inclusion criteria	Green tea/black tea analysed separately 5 studies of green tea included in meta-analysis 3 case-control, 2 prospective cohort 899 cases/2988 controls in case control studies 49,082 patients in cohorts All conducted China or Japan Follow-up in cohort studies 7 years and 13 years Little details on the populations included	RR CAD 0.72 (95% CI 0.58, 0.89) (highest green tea consumption vs. lowest green tea consumption) RR CAD (routine green tea drinking vs. non-drinkers/occasional drinkers) 0.83 (95% CI 0.71, 0.97) In subgroup analysis protective effect in case-control studies and males, not in cohort studies and female drinkers Increase in green tea consumption of 1 cup/day associated with 10% decrease in risk of developing CAD (RR 0.9, 95% CI 0.82, 0.99)
Kim [28] 2011 USA	Randomised trials (both parallel and crossover) Systematic review and meta-analysis	Not specified on inclusion criteria	Lipids: Total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, triglycerides	Intervention: Green tea in any form (extracts or beverages) Control: Any control treatment	20 trials included (19 each reporting on each outcome) 4 were crossover trials, remaining were parallel 1415 participants Mean ages ranged from 11 to 65 years Mixed populations, with a range of cardiovascular risk, mostly healthy populations but some at high cardiovascular risk (e.g. diabetics) Follow-up ranged between 2 and 23 weeks Dose of tea varied widely between studies.	Study duration 3–24 weeks Compared to control, green tea reduced total cholesterol (–5.46 mg/dL WMD [–0.14 mmol/L], CI –9.59, –1.32 mg/dL [–0.25, –0.03 mmol/L]) Reduced LDL cholesterol (WMD –5.30 mg/dL [–0.138 mmol/L], CI –9.99, to –0.62 mg/dL [–0.26, –0.02 mmol/L]) No signif. effect on HDL (WMD –0.27 mg/dL [–0.007 mmol/L], CI –1.62,1.09 mg/dL [0.042,0.03 mmol/L]) or on trigylcerides (WMD 3.00 mg/dL [0.034 mmol/L], CI –2.73, 8.73 mg/dL [–0.031, 0.10 mmol/L])
Zheng [29] 2011 China	Published RCTs Systematic review and meta-analysis	Adults	Total cholesterol, LDL, HDL	Intervention: green tea beverage or extract, not as part of a multicomponent supplement Control: not specified Specified that food-intake control regimens of experimental groups should be consistent with those of control groups.	14 RCTs with 1136 subjects Study duration from 3 weeks to 3 months Dose of green tea catechins ranged from 150 to 2500 mg/day Study populations ranged from healthy adults to those with cardiovascular risks 11 studies were placebo controlled; other studies control arm took lower dose green tea, or oolong tea.	Total cholesterol significantly reduced in subjects supplemented with green tea (-7.20 mg/dL , CI -8.19 , -6.21 mg/dL ; $p < 0.001$) than in controls, with low heterogeneity for this outcome ($l^2 = 9.1\%$). LDL was significantly decreased by 2.19 mg/dL (CI -3.1 , -1.21 mg/dL ; $p < 0.001$) in intervention groups with no heterogeneity ($l^2 = 25.4\%$). For intervention groups the mean change in blood HDL was not significant ($+0.25 \text{ mg/dL}$ 95% CI -0.73 , 1.23 mg/dL ; $p = 0/62$). Subgroup analyses showed that differences remained when analysed by type of intervention
Weight loss Phung [31] 2010 USA	RCTs Systematic review Meta-analysis	Children, healthy adults and adults with co morbidities such as overweight or obesity, hyperlipidemia, or diabetes mellitus	Anthropometric variables BMI, BW, WC and WHR	Green tea, consumption with and without caffeine 3 analyses (1) Green tea catechins (GTC) with caffeine vs. caffeine-matched control (2) GTCs with caffeine vs. caffeine-free control (3) Caffeine-free GTCs vs. caffeine-free control	n = 15 (n = 1243 patients) 7 GCT plus caffeine vs. caffeine control 6 GCT plus caffeine vs. caffeine-free control 2 caffeine-free GCT vs. caffeine-free control	GTC with caffeine decreased BMI (-0.55 ; CI -0.65 , -0.40) and BW (-1.38 kg, 95% CI -0.72 , -0.15) but not WHR, compared with caffeine alone GTC ingestion with caffeine significantly decreased BW (-0.44 kg, CI -0.72 , -0.15) vs. caffeine-free control No benefit was shown in studies that evaluated GTC without concomitant caffeine administration on any of the measures.

Results, comment and/or analysis	Modest but positive effect of catechins on WL/WM ratio ($\mu = -1.31$ kg, Cl -2.05 , 0.57 kg; $p < 0.001$) Authors state results were heterogeneous and suggest that habitual caffeine intake and ethnicity may be moderators
Included studies	N = 11 9 WL studies 2 WM studies
Intervention/control	A green tea EGCG and caffeine mix supplement Intervention: 2 WL studies EGCG-caffeine mixture for 12 weeks 9 WM studies: 4 week low energy diet then EGCG-caffeine mixture supplementation for 12 or 13 weeks Control: 7 studies used "true placebo group"
Outcomes of interest	General population BW regulation: WL and WM
Population	General population
Study selection and Population design	RCTs Systematic review Meta-analysis
Author Date Country	Hursel [32] 2009 The Netherlands

Table 1 (Continued)

BMI, body mass index; BW, body weight; CAD, coronary artery disease; CI 95%, confidence intervals; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; EGCG, epigallocatechin gallate; GTC, green tea catechins; HDL, density lipoproteins; LDL, low density lipoproteins; MI, myocardial infarction; RCT, randomised controlled trial; RR, relative risk; SBP, systolic blood pressure; WC, weight control; WHR, waist to hip ratio; WL, weight loss; , weight maintenance; WMD, weighted mean difference. high WM. Key:

4.1. Oral/pharyngeal cancer

One cohort study showed no association between green tea and risk reduction of cancer in men but a trend towards risk reduction in women [13].

4.2. Esophageal cancer

There were two cohorts, five case–control studies and one randomised controlled trial (RCT) described. Three of the seven non-randomised studies showed a reduction in risk with green tea of which in two the effect was restricted to women. The remaining four studies did not show any risk reduction. The RCT of 200 participants investigating decaffeinated green tea also did not show any risk reduction [14]. There is some evidence to suggest very hot green tea consumption results in an increased risk of esophageal cancer [15].

4.3. Gastric cancer

Seventeen case–control studies were identified of which approximately half showed a risk reduction and half no risk reduction. One cohort study showed an increased risk of gastric cancer with green tea overall but a reduced risk in women [16]. Three case–control studies showed that green tea is not associated with gastric cancer specific mortality.

4.4. Pancreatic cancer

One large nested case–control study of 102,137 Japanese patients with pancreatic cancer showed green tea not to be associated with pancreatic cancer mortality [17]. The results of four retrospective case–control studies were mixed, but a further one also found green tea was not related to pancreatic cancer specific mortality.

4.5. Colorectal cancer

There were three prospective and three retrospective case–control studies for colorectal cancer. One of the prospective studies showed no association, one showed an increased risk for men with green tea but not for women; the third study of women only, showed a risk reduction for colorectal cancer. In the retrospective studies, one study showed no association, another showed a decreased risk of colon cancer but not rectal cancer, and one showing a decreased risk for women but not men. A further case–control study showed no effect on colorectal cancer specific mortality.

4.6. Breast cancer

There were three cohort studies and three case–control studies of breast cancer. All of the cohort studies and one of the case control studies showed no association with risk reduction of breast cancer with green tea. Two case–control studies showed a positive risk reduction of breast cancer with green tea [18,19].

Two of the case-control studies also investigated the role of genotypes and suggested that differing angiotensin converting enzyme and folate metabolism activity genotypes in women may play a role in the risk reduction of breast cancer with green tea [20,21].

A more recent meta-analysis of studies of breast cancer risk (7 studies) and recurrence (2 studies), encompassing 5617 cases of breast cancer showed that increased green tea consumption (more than three cups a day) was inversely associated with breast cancer recurrence (pooled relative rate of 0.73, CI 0.56, 0.96) [9]. An

analysis of five case–control studies (three extra studies in addition to previous reviews) of breast cancer incidence suggested an inverse association with a pooled relative rate of 0.81 (CI 0.75, 0.88). No association was found among cohort studies of breast cancer incidence. Whilst some of their methodological approaches were criticised by others, both parties concluded that increased green tea consumption may be inversely associated with risk of breast cancer recurrence [22].

4.7. Lung cancer

One cohort study and two case–control studies showed that green tea had no effect on risk reduction of lung cancer. A further study showed green tea was not related to lung cancer specific mortality. A more recent review specific to lung cancer included no extra studies [10].

4.8. Prostate cancer

There were two cohort studies and two case–control studies of green tea or placebo treatment. Two studies showed no association and two showed a risk reduction. One RCT investigated the treatment of 60 men (45–75 years) with high grade prostate intraepithelial neoplasia [23]. After 1-year, there was one tumour case in the green tea group and six in the placebo group. A more recent meta-analysis which included 4 cohorts and three case–control studies (i.e. three extra studies) has shown that for prostate cancer risk, the pooled estimate reached statistically significant level for case–control studies odds ratio (OR)=0.43; CI 0.25, 0.73, but not for prospective cohort studies (OR=1.00; CI 0.66, 1.53).[24] The authors report a border-line significant association with Asian populations.

4.9. Bladder cancer

One cohort and one case-control study showed conflicting results with the cohort showing no association and the case-control showing an increased risk with green tea.

4.10. Liver cancer

One case control study was included in the reviews which suggested green tea reduces the risk of liver cancer especially amongst alcohol drinkers [25].

4.11. Ovarian cancer

Two case–control studies of women found an association with green tea and a reduced risk of ovarian cancer. In a more recent review inverse associations were reported for green tea and risk of ovarian cancer from four case–control studies (i.e. two extra studies) (OR 50.66; CI 0.54, 0.80), and for green tea and risk of endometrial cancer from six case–control studies (OR 50.78; CI 0.62, 0.98) [11].

5. Cardiovascular

Four systematic reviews were identified, three reviewed the effect of green tea on cardiovascular risk factors, and one reviewed the effect of green tea on coronary heart disease (CHD) incidence and mortality [26–29]. A further review was excluded as it added no extra studies [30].

These reviews were assessed by AMSTAR. All but one of the studies used the status of publication as an inclusion criterion [27] (web appendix 2). None of the reviews gave a comprehensive list of excluded studies, with only one study clearly citing references

for any excluded studies [28]. Only one study listed the country of origin of the study (all studies conducted in China or Japan) [29].

5.1. Risk factors

Hooper et al. included RCTs in which the intervention was an increased intake of flavanoids or foods rich in flavanoids, vs. a control diet [26] (Table 1). There were 12 green tea trials, of which seven trials provided data on the primary outcomes of cardiovascular risk markers: low and high density lipids (LDL and HDL), systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP) and endothelial function.

Four RCTs (378 participants) contributed data on the effect of green tea on LDL, and three RCTs (358 participants) on the effect on HDL. These trials showed a decrease in LDL (-0.23; CI -0.34 to -0.12) and a non-significant decrease of 0.01 in HDL (CI -0.09, 0.07). Two trials (92 participants) contributed data on the effect of green tea on SBP, and one trial (26 participants) on the effect of DBP. These trials showed a non-significant change in blood pressure: an increase in SBP of 1.8 mmHg (-1.8, 5.46), and increase in DBP of 0.9 mmHg (-1.22, 3.02). There were no data on endothelial function. A high level of heterogeneity is noted amongst the green tea trials, and industry funding is reported in half.

Two more recent reviews have focused on the effect of green tea on lipid profiles [27,28] (Table 1).

Kim et al. reviewed RCTs of green tea in any form and lipid outcomes: total cholesterol (TC), LDL, HDL and triglycerides [27] (Table 1). It included 20 trials (1415 participants), of which four were crossover trials. Compared to control, green tea reduced TC (-5.6 mg/dL weighted mean difference (WMD), CI -9.59, -1.32 mg/dL [-0.14 mmol/L, CI -0.25, -0.03 mmol/L]), reduced LDL (WMD -5.30 mg/dL, CI -9/99, -0.62 [-0.138 mmol/L], CI -0.26, -0.02 mmol/L]), and had no significant effect on HDL (WMD -0.27 mg/dL, CI -1.62, 1.09 mg/dL [-0.007 mmol/L, CI -0.73, 8.73 mg/dL [0.034 mmol/L, CI -0.031, 0.10 mmol/L]).

Zheng et al. included 14 RCTs of green tea in any form (1136 participants) on lipid outcomes (TC, LDL and HDL) with a trial duration of three weeks to 3 months [28] (Table 1). Nine of these trials had been included in the review by Kim et al. [27].

TC was significantly reduced in subjects supplemented with green tea (-7.20 mg/dL, CI -8.19, -6.21 mg/dL; p < 0.001) than in controls, with low heterogeneity for this outcome ($I^2 = 9.1\%$). LDL was significantly decreased by 2.19 mg/dL (CI -3.1, -1.21 mg/dL; p < 0.001) in intervention groups with modest heterogeneity ($I^2 = 25.4\%$). For intervention groups the mean change in blood HDL was not significant (+0.25 mg/dL, CI -0.73, 1.23 mg/dL; p = 0/62). Subgroup analyses showed that differences remained when analysed by intervention, cardiovascular risk, study length, dose, and study quality.

5.2. Coronary artery disease (CAD)

Wang et al. systematically reviewed case–control and cohort studies in which tea consumption (black and green tea) was compared against an unspecified control, with the outcome of CAD incidence or mortality [29] (Table 1).

The studies of green tea were three case–control studies (899 cases, 2988 controls) and two prospective cohort studies (49,082 participants). All studies were conducted in China or Japan and the follow-up for the cohort studies were 7 years and 13 years respectively. Meta-analysis of the green tea data compared the highest green tea consumers with the lowest. The analysis suggested a risk ratio of 0.83 (0.71, 0.97) for CAD in routine green tea drinkers vs. non-drinkers or occasional drinkers. Subgroup analyses showed this protective effect to be only seen in case–control studies and

males, not in cohort studies or female drinkers, and the authors conclude that there are no robust data to support the finding of reduced CAD risk in green tea drinkers.

6. Weight loss

Two relevant reviews on green tea and weight loss were found [31,32] (Table 1).

The Phung review can be described as high quality as assessed by the AMSTAR measurement tool [31] (web appendix 2). The authors stated that certain trial characteristics contributed to both clinical and statistical heterogeneity and was a limitation to the metaanalysis. Location of the studies was not clear. The Hursel review conducted a meta-analysis and contained detail regarding participant ethnicity (4 Caucasian, 11 Asian), but quality assessment of papers was not clear [32].

The Phung review included 15 RCTs (1243 participants) of green tea with and without caffeine on body mass index (BMI), body weight (BW), waist circumference (WC) and waist to hip ratio (WHR) [31] (Table 1). Green tea with caffeine significantly decreased BW (6 RCTs) when compared with caffeine-free control (WMD –0.44 kg, CI –0.72, –0.15) but did not significantly affect any other anthropometric measures. Green tea with caffeine decreased BMI (-0.55, CI –0.65, -0.40) and BW (-1.38 kg, 95% CI –0.72, -0.15) but not WHR, compared with caffeine alone (7 RCTs). No benefit was shown in trials that evaluated green tea without concomitant caffeine administration on any of the measures (2 RCTs). The authors concluded that ingestion of green tea with caffeine may positively affect BMI, BW and WC but that the magnitude of effect over a median of 12 weeks is small and not likely to be clinically relevant.

The Hursel review included 11 RCTs of green tea compared to placebo on weight loss (WL) and weight maintenance (WM) [32] (Table 1). All the included studies were 12–13 weeks in duration, the majority included a mixture of male and female participants aged between 18 and 65 years. Seven of 11 RCTs were recruited from Asian populations.

All 11 RCTs were included in a meta-analysis. Catechins had a small positive effect on BW and WM after a period of weight loss (mean weight change (MWC) = -1.31 kg, Cl -2.05, -0.57; p < 0.001), although high heterogeneity was reported. Further analysis suggested that ethnicity and habitual caffeine intake were moderators of this effect. The average effect was larger for trials with Asian participants (MWC -1.51 kg, Cl -2.37, -0.65) than for Caucasian participants (MWC -0.82, Cl -2.13, 0.50); but the difference was not significant (p = 0.19). Habitual caffeine intake did not influence WL (low caffeine MWC -1.61 kg, 95% Cl -2.38, -0.83; moderate-high MWC -0.27 kg, Cl -1.63, 1.10) except in combination with ethnicity (p = 0.04).

In a related paper, the same investigators reviewed metabolic studies that showed that both catechin-caffeine mixtures (CCM) and caffeine only (CO) supplementation stimulates daily energy expenditure dose dependently by 0.4–0.5 kJ mg⁻¹ administered [33]. Daily fat oxidation was only significantly increased after CCM ingestion and not CO supplementation when compared with placebo.

7. Summary and conclusions

The evidence for green tea consumption and risk reduction, associated mortality and recurrence of all cancer types is limited in both quantity and quality. For most cancer types, the direction of effect is unclear. There are data to suggest that metabolic genotype and gender are modulators of the effects of green tea. Meta-analysis of data for risk reduction of breast, prostate, endometrial and ovarian cancer suggests there is a positive effect of green tea. These studies generally measured tea consumption in cups, comparing low/no consumption vs. higher consumption (1–10 cups per day).

Green tea trials of cardiovascular risk are heterogeneous and of variable quality. Short term RCTs (maximum duration 24 weeks) suggest beneficial effects on lipid profiles: a reduction in LDL and TC, with no significant effects seen on HDL and triglycerides. RCTs of green tea on blood pressure are very small, and show nonsignificant increases in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Evidence from observational studies in Asian populations is mixed, with case–control studies suggesting a possible protective effect of green tea on CAD, but cohort studies failing to show this effect.

Green tea consumption does help reduce body weight and aid weight management as shown in short term RCTs (12 weeks) but not to a clinically relevant level. Green tea consumption did not influence other anthropometric measures. Data showed that ethnicity and caffeine may be moderators of any effect. There was a great degree of clinical and statistical heterogeneity in the included trials.

None of the included reviews focussed on safety, but other data suggests that there are no real safety concerns with normal green tea consumption for most people.

In conclusion, whilst there is a considerable body of evidence for green tea with some of it suggesting a positive effect, it is difficult to be definitive as to its health benefits.

Contributors

Rachel Johnson was responsible for screening references and clinical knowledge, and is the main author for cardiovascular section of this paper. Susan Bryant is the main author of weight loss section of this paper. Both Johnson and Bryant revised and made crucial comments on the whole paper. Alyson Huntley contributed towards literature searches, screening references and overall management of review, and is the main author of cancer section of this paper. All authors were involved in the editing of whole paper.

Competing interest

None.

Funding

No funding was sought for this review.

Provenance and peer review

Commissioned and externally peer reviewed.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.08.008.

References

- The review of natural products. Facts & Comparison. 6th revised ed. St Louis Missouri, US: Wolters Kluwer; 2010.
- [2] Sarma DN, Barrett ML, Chavez ML, et al. Safety of green tea extracts: a systematic review by the US Pharmacopeia. Drug Safety 2008;31(6):469–84.
- [3] Alemdaroglu NC, Dietz U, Wolffram S, Spahn-Langguth H, Langguth P. Influence of green and black tea on folic acid pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers: potential risk of diminished folic acid bioavailability. Biopharmaceutics and Drug Disposition 2008;29(September (6)):335–48.
- [4] Nelson M, Poulter J. Impact of tea drinking on iron status in the UK: a review. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics 2004;17(February (1)):43–54.
- [5] Ullmann U, Haller J, Decourt JD, Girault J, Spitzer V, Weber P. Plasma-kinetic characteristics of purified and isolated green tea catechin epigallocatechin

gallate (EGCG) after 10 days repeated dosing in healthy volunteers. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research 2004;74(July (4)):269–78.

- [6] Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, et al. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2007;7:10.
- [7] Boehm K, Borrelli F, Ernst E, et al. Green tea (*Camellia sinensis*) for the prevention of cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2009;(July (3)):CD005004.
- [8] Sturgeon JL, Williams M, van SG. Efficacy of green tea in the prevention of cancers. Nursing & Health Sciences 2009;11(4):436–46.
- [9] Ogunleye AA, Xue F, Michels KB. Green tea consumption and breast cancer risk or recurrence: a meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2010;119(2):477–84.
- [10] Fritz H, Seely D, Kennedy DA, Fernandes R, Cooley K, Fergusson D. Green tea and lung cancer: a systematic review. Integrative Cancer Therapies 2012 [April 24, Epub ahead of print].
- [11] Butler LM, Wu AH. Green and black tea in relation to gynecologic cancers. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research 2011;55(6):931–40.
- [12] Zheng J, Yang B, Huang T, Yu Y, Yang J, Li D. Green tea and black tea consumption and prostate cancer risk: an exploratory meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutrition and Cancer 2011;63(5):663–72 [June 11, Epub ahead of print].
- [13] Ide R, Fujino Y, Hoshiyama Y, et al. A prospective study of green tea consumption and oral cancer incidence in Japan. Annals of Epidemiology 2007;17(October (10)):821–6.
- [14] Wang LD, Zhou Q, Feng CW, et al. Intervention and follow-up on human esophageal precancerous lesions in Henan, northern China, a high-incidence area for esophageal cancer. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho 2002;29(February (Suppl. 1)):159–72.
- [15] Wang JM, Xu B, Rao JY, Shen HB, Xue HC, Jiang QW. Diet habits, alcohol drinking, tobacco smoking, green tea drinking, and the risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in the Chinese population. European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology 2007;19(February (2)):171–6.
- [16] Sasazuki S, Inoue M, Hanaoka T, Yamamoto S, Sobue T, Tsugane S. Green tea consumption and subsequent risk of gastric cancer by subsite: the JPHC Study. Cancer Causes and Control 2004;15(June (5)):483–91.
- [17] Luo J, Inoue M, Iwasaki M, et al. Green tea and coffee intake and risk of pancreatic cancer in a large-scale, population-based cohort study in Japan (JPHC study). European Journal of Cancer Prevention 2007;16(December (6)):542–8.
- [18] Wu AH, Yu MC, Tseng CC, Hankin J, Pike MC. Green tea and risk of breast cancer in Asian Americans. International Journal of Cancer 2003;106(4):574–9.
- [19] Zhang M, Holman CD, Huang JP, Xie X. Green tea and the prevention of breast cancer: a case-control study in Southeast China. Carcinogenesis 2007;28(May (5)):1074-8 [2006 December 20, Epub ahead of print].
- [20] Inoue M, Robien K, Wang R, Van Den Berg DJ, Koh WP, Yu MC. Green tea intake, MTHFR/TYMS genotype and breast cancer risk: the Singapore Chinese Health Study. Carcinogenesis 2008;29(October (10)):1967–72.

- [21] Yoan JM, Koh WP, Sun CL, Lee HP, Yu MC. Green tea intake, ACE gene polymorphism and breast cancer risk among Chinese women in Singapore. Carcinogenesis 2007;28:1074–8.
- [22] Zhou P, Li JP, Zhang C. Green tea consumption and breast cancer risk: three recent meta-analyses. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2011;127(2):581–3.
- [23] Bettuzzi S, Brausi M, Rizzi F, Castagnetti G, Peracchia G, Corti A. Chemoprevention of human prostate cancer by oral administration of green tea catechins in volunteers with high-grade prostate intraepithelial neoplasia: a preliminary report from a one-year proof-of-principle study. Cancer Research 2006;66(January (2)):1234–40.
- [24] Zheng J, Yang B, Huang T, Yu Y, Yang J, Li D. Green tea and black tea consumption and prostate cancer risk: an exploratory meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutrition and Cancer 2011;63(5):663–72.
- [25] Mu LN, Zhou XF, Ding BG, et al. A case-control study on drinking green tea and decreasing risk of cancers in the alimentary canal among cigarette smokers and alcohol drinkers. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 2003;24(March (3)):192-5.
- [26] Hooper L, Kroon PA, Rimm EB, et al. Flavonoids, flavonoid-rich foods, and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2008;88(1):38–50.
- [27] Kim A, Chiu A, Barone MK, et al. Green tea catechins decrease total and lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of the American Dietetic Association 2011;111(11):1720–9.
- [28] Zheng XX, Xu YL, Li SH, Liu XX, Hui R, Huang XH. Green tea intake lowers fasting serum total and LDL cholesterol in adults: a meta-analysis of 14 randomized controlled trials. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2011;94(August (2)):601–10.
- [29] Wang ZM, Zhou B, Wang YS, et al. Black and green tea consumption and the risk of coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2011;93(3):506–15.
- [30] Hasani-Ranjbar S, Nayebi N, Moradi L, Mehri A, Larijani B, Abdollahi M. The efficacy and safety of herbal medicines used in the treatment of hyperlipidemia; a systematic review. Current Pharmaceutical Design 2010;16(26): 2935–47.
- [31] Phung OJ, Baker WL, Matthews LJ, Lanosa M, Thorne A, Coleman CI. Effect of green tea catechins with or without caffeine on anthropometric measures: a systematic review and meta-analysis. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2010;91:73–81.
- [32] Hursel R, Viechtbauer W, Westerterp-Plantenga MS. The effects of green tea on weight loss and weight maintenance: a meta-analysis. International Journal of Obesity 2009;33(9):956–61.
- [33] Hursel R, Viechtbauer W, Dulloo AG, et al. The effects of catechin rich teas and caffeine on energy expenditure and fat oxidation: a meta-analysis. Obesity Reviews 2011;12(7):e573–658.